TGEGKXGF.'91: 14235'38-65-65."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

KERICK VAN TEAMER,

Respondent.

Case No. SC13-318

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

JAY KUBICA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0026341

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Kerrick Van Teamer, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of two (2) volumes, which will be referenced as "RI," and "RII," respectively, followed by any appropriate page number, as well as three (3) supplemental volumes, which will be referenced as "SRI," "SRII," and "SRIII," respectively, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 22, 2010, Deputy Christopher Knotts, with the Escambia County Sheriff's Office, was traveling westbound on a public thoroughfare, with a bright green Chevy vehicle traveling in front of him. (RI 21). The bright green Chevy pulled into a parking lot of a business and Deputy Knotts proceeded on his way. (RI 22). A brief time later, Deputy Knotts once again encountered the bright green Chevy and ran the tag of the vehicle through his computer database with the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. (RI 22-23). Deputy Knotts testified at the

suppression hearing that the information he received on the tag was that it belonged to a blue Chevrolet. (RI 23). Noting that the colors were inconsistent, Deputy Knotts also acknowledged that in his training and experience he has encountered individuals that will switch tags on vehicles, and that from his vantage point he could not determine whether or not the tag that was on the vehicle was actually registered to that vehicle. (RI 23). At that point, Deputy Knotts effectuated a traffic stop of the vehicle. (RI 24).

Deputy Knotts approached the vehicle on the driver's side and told the driver, later identified as Respondent, that the tag did not match the vehicle. (RI 24). As he was speaking with Respondent, Deputy Knotts noticed an odor emanating from the vehicle that smelled like marijuana. (RI 24-25). In speaking with Respondent, Deputy Knotts was provided an explanation by Respondent as to the reason for the color discrepancy, which was that he had just recently painted the vehicle. (RI 25). Deputy Knotts acquired Appellant's registration, returned to his patrol vehicle and requested a second deputy to respond to the scene. (RI 25). As for his reason in calling for a second officer to assist, Deputy Knotts testified that it was his intention to initiate a probable cause search of the vehicle based upon the odor of marijuana emanating therefrom. (RI 25).

Once the backup officer arrived, Deputy Knotts returned to Respondent, issued him a warning for the variance in color from what was listed on the registration, and also informed him about the odor he detected. (RI 26).

Respondent responded to Deputy Knotts by stating that he had smoked marijuana earlier. (RI 36). Deputy Knotts then proceeded to search Respondent, who had no contraband on his person, but did possess a large amount of U.S. currency, approximately over \$1,100. (RI 26). At that point, a passenger in Respondent's vehicle was also asked to step out of the vehicle. (RI 26). Deputy Knotts then proceeded to search the vehicle, which revealed the presence of narcotics inside the center console cup, specifically marijuana and crack cocaine. (RI 27, 52).

Respondent was subsequently arrested and charged via Amended Information with Trafficking in Cocaine (Count One), Possession of a Controlled Substance (Count Two) and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia (Count Three). (RI 3). On October 4, 2010, Respondent filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence, and a hearing was held on December 9, 2010. (RI 8-68). The trial court denied Respondent's Motion to Suppress through written order on March 13, 2012. (SRII 180). On June 16, 2011, following a jury trial, Respondent was convicted as charged and was sentenced to a term of six (6) years incarceration as to Count One and time served as to Counts Two and Three. (RI 116-122).

An appeal to the First District Court of Appeal followed. The First District reversed the denial of Respondent's motion to suppress, holding that a discrepancy between a vehicle's actual color and the color associated with the tag attached to the vehicle at the time of a stop did not constitute reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Van Teamer v.

<u>State</u>, 108 So.3d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 2013). The First District also certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Aders v. State</u>, 67 So.3d 368 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011).

The State now petitions this Court for review of the First District's decision in the instant case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Respondent's motion to suppress. Deputy Christopher Knotts had reasonable suspicion of possible criminal activity based on the difference between the color of Respondent's vehicle and the color of the vehicle to which Respondent's tag was registered. When the officer expected the color of the vehicle to match the color associated with its tag, such a discrepancy was an articulable fact which gave rise to a suspicion that crime may be afoot. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying Respondent's motion to suppress, nor did the Aders court err in affirming the denial of a motion to suppress under similar facts.

By departing from the prescribed reasonable suspicion analysis followed by the trial court and the Aders court, the First District erred in the instant case. Despite impliedly recognizing that any discrepancy between a vehicle and its registration gives rise to reasonable suspicion, the First District held that no reasonable suspicion existed based on a concern that innocent activity would form the basis for a temporary investigative detention. This concern has been rejected by the United States Supreme Court and the risk that those who commit no crimes may be temporarily detained is a risk that the Fourth Amendment accepts. Accordingly, the First District's opinion in the instant case should be quashed and the opinion in Aders approved.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: WHETHER REASONABLE SUSPICION TO JUSTIFY A TEMPORARY INVESTIGATIVE DETENTION AROSE BASED ON A COLOR DISCREPANCY BETWEEN A VEHICLE AND THE COLOR ASSOCIATED WITH TAG ATTACHED TO THE VEHICLE, WHEN SUCH COLOR DISCREPANCY WAS INDICATIVE OF VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA'S CRIMINAL TRAFFIC LAWS? (RESTATED)

Standard of Review

Because a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress involves a mixed question of law and fact, appellate courts must follow a mixed standard of review. See Seibert v. State, 923 So. 2d 460, 468 (Fla. 2006), citing Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 510 (Fla. 2005) ("Because a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress is a mixed question of law and fact, we defer to the trial court on the factual issues but consider the constitutional issues de novo."). Analogous to a motion for judgment of acquittal, the reviewing court examines the evidence adduced at the suppression hearing "in the light most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling." State v. Moore, 791 So. 2d 1246, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), citing San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 841 (1998).

Equally analogous, the appellate court must affirm the trial court's factual findings if competent and substantial evidence supports those findings. See Wheeler v. State, 956 So. 2d 517, 520 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), citing Caso v. State, 524 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1988) ("The trial court's factual findings must be affirmed if supported by competent, substantial

evidence..."); see also Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 699 (1996):
A trial judge views the facts of a particular case in light of the distinctive features and events of the community; likewise, a police officer views the facts through the lens of his police experience and expertise. The background facts provide a context for the historical facts, and when seen together yield inferences that deserve deference.

However, the appellate courts must apply the de novo standard when reviewing the trial court's application of the law to those facts. See Wheeler at 520, citing Ornelas ("... while the trial court's application of the law to those facts is reviewed de novo."); see also Moore at 1247 ("While the reviewing court is required to accept the trial court's determination of the historical facts surrounding the challenged seizure and/or search, it reviews de novo the application of the law to the historical facts.").

This bifurcated review allows the appellate court to accomplish three tasks: (1) defer to the trial court's ability "to evaluate and weigh the testimony and evidence based upon its observation of the bearing, demeanor, and credibility"; (2) ensure that trial courts apply the law uniformly "in decisions based on similar facts"; and (3) protect the Constitutional rights of the defendant. Conner v. State, 803 So. 2d 598, 607-608 (Fla. 2001), quoting Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 1999).

Preservation

Pursuant to well-settled authority, Respondent preserved this issue in the trial court.

Merits

1. The color discrepancy between Respondent's vehicle and the vehicle to which his tag was registered created a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.

Respondent's position in both the trial court and the district court was that an officer who discovers that a vehicle's color does not match the color of the vehicle to which the plate is assigned does not have reasonable suspicion to perform a temporary investigative stop to ascertain whether criminal activity is afoot. The State, however, respectfully disagrees. The discrepancy in color between the observed vehicle and the vehicle to which the plate was registered represented potential illegal activity that the officer was warranted in temporarily stopping the vehicle to investigate. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying Respondent's motion to suppress.

Initially, the State notes that pursuant to Article I, section 12 of the Florida Constitution, this Court shall interpret search and seizure issues in conformity with the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the Supreme Court of the United States. See Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 952 n.32 (Fla. 2003) ("We are required to follow the United States Supreme Court's interpretations of the Fourth Amendment."); see also Bernie v. State, 524 So. 2d 988, 991 (Fla. 1988) ("With this amendment, however, we are bound to follow the interpretations of the United States Supreme Court with relation to the fourth amendment, and provide no greater protection than those interpretations.").

The State also notes that there are three levels of police-citizen encounters, the second level being an investigatory stop in which a police officer may detain a citizen temporarily if the officer has reasonable suspicion to believe the person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime. See Popple v. Florida, 626 So. 2d 185, 186 (Fla. 1993); see also § 901.151(2), Fla. Stat. When determining whether there is an articulable reasonable suspicion, the court must look at the totality of the circumstances. See United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002); see also State v. Pye, 551 So. 2d 1237, 1238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

In <u>Ornelas v. United States</u>, 517 U.S. 690, 695-96 (1996), the United States Supreme Court observed:

Articulating precisely what 'reasonable suspicion' and 'probable cause' mean is not possible. They are commonsense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with "'the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act." Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 231, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 2328, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983) (quoting Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175, 69 S.Ct. 1302, 1311, 93 L.Ed. 1879 (1949)); see United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7-8, 109 S.Ct. 1581, 1585-1586, 104 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989). As such, the standards are 'not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules.' Gates, supra, at 232, 103 S.Ct., at 2329. We have described reasonable suspicion simply as 'a particularized and objective basis' for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity, United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417-418, 101 S.Ct. 690, 694-695, 66 L.Ed.2d 621 (1981), and probable cause to search as existing where the known facts and circumstances are sufficient to warrant a man of reasonable prudence in the belief that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found, see Brinegar, supra, at 175-176, 69 S.Ct., at 1310-1311; Gates, supra, at 238, 103 S.Ct., at 2332. We have cautioned that these two legal principles are not 'finely-tuned standards,' comparable to the standards of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Gates, supra, at 235, 103 S.Ct., at They are instead fluid concepts that take their 2330-2331. substantive content from the particular contexts in which the

standards are being assessed. Gates, supra, at 232, 103 S.Ct., at 2329; Brinegar, supra, at 175, 69 S.Ct., at 1310 ('The standard of proof [for probable cause] is ... correlative to what must be proved'); Ker v. California, 374 U.S. 23, 33, 83 S.Ct. 1623, 1630, 10 L.Ed.2d 726 (1963) ("This Cour[t] [has a] long-established recognition that standards of reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment are not susceptible of Procrustean application'; '[e]ach case is to be decided on its own facts and circumstances' (internal quotation marks omitted)); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. [1, 29 (1968)], 88 S.Ct., at 1884 (the limitations imposed by the Fourth Amendment 'will have to be developed in the concrete factual circumstances of individual cases').

<u>Id.</u> at 695-696. In particular, the Court further noted:

The principal components of a determination of reasonable suspicion or probable cause will be the events which occurred leading up to the stop or search, and then the decision whether these historical facts, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to reasonable suspicion or to probable cause.

Id. at 696. In United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411(1981), the Court said

of the requirements necessary for an officer to conduct a lawful stop: Courts have used a variety of terms to capture the elusive concept of what cause is sufficient to authorize police to stop a person. Terms 'articulable like reasons' and 'founded suspicion' are self-defining; thev fall short of providing clear dispositive of the myriad factual situations that arise. But the essence of all that has been written is that the totality of the circumstances--the whole picture--must be taken into account. Based upon that whole picture the detaining officers must have a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity.

Id. at 417-418. In particular, the Court further noted that the determination of whether an officer had an articulable reasonable suspicion is to be made from the totality of the circumstances. Specifically, the Court stated:

The idea that an assessment of the whole picture must yield a particularized suspicion contains two elements, each of which must be present before a stop is permissible. First, the assessment must be

based upon all of the circumstances. The analysis proceeds with various objective observations, information from police reports, if such are available, and consideration of the modes or patterns of operation of certain kinds of lawbreakers. From these data, a trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions -- inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.

Id.

Additionally, the Court concluded in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), that an officer could, without violating the protections of the Fourth Amendment, conduct a brief investigatory stop. The officer, in order to conduct such a stop, must have a reasonable suspicion that "criminal activity may be afoot." Id. In United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274, the Court stated that "[a]lthough an officer's reliance on a mere 'hunch' is insufficient to justify a stop, the likelihood of criminal activity need not rise to the level required for probable cause." See also Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000) (describing reasonable suspicion as a "less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence".).

In <u>United States v. Sokolow</u>, 490 U.S. 1, 10 (1989), the Court further stated:

We noted in <u>Gates</u>, 462 U.S., at 243-244, n. 13, that "innocent behavior will frequently provide the basis for a showing of probable cause," and that "[i]n making a determination of probable cause the relevant inquiry is not whether particular conduct is 'innocent' or 'guilty,' but the degree of suspicion that attaches to particular types of noncriminal acts." That principle applies equally well to the reasonable suspicion inquiry.

Further elucidating its acceptance of the risk of innocent behavior forming the basis for reasonable suspicion, the United States Supreme Court explained,

Respondent and amici also argue that there are innocent reasons for flight from police and that, therefore, flight is not necessarily indicative of ongoing criminal activity. This fact is undoubtedly true, but does not establish a violation of the Fourth Amendment. Even in Terry, the conduct justifying the stop was ambiguous and susceptible of an innocent explanation. The officer observed two individuals pacing back and forth in front of a store, peering into the window and periodically conferring. 392 U.S., at 5-6, 88 S.Ct. 1868. All of this conduct was by itself lawful, but it also suggested that the individuals were casing the store for a planned robbery. Terry recognized that the officers could detain the individuals to resolve the ambiguity. Id., at 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868.

In allowing such detentions, *Terry* accepts the risk that officers may stop innocent people. Indeed, the Fourth Amendment accepts that risk in connection with more drastic police action; persons arrested and detained on probable cause to believe they have committed a crime may turn out to be innocent. The *Terry* stop is a far more minimal intrusion, simply allowing the officer to briefly investigate further. If the officer does not learn facts rising to the level of probable cause, the individual must be allowed to go on his way. But in this case the officers found respondent in possession of a handgun, and arrested him for violation of an Illinois firearms statute. No question of the propriety of the arrest itself is before us.

<u>Wardlow</u>, 528 U.S. 119 at 125-26. Thus, facts that may be ambiguous and susceptible of innocent explanations are properly accepted as the basis for a reasonable suspicion. In <u>State v. Stevens</u>, 354 So. 2d 1244, 1247 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), the court gave examples of possible factors which may be useful in a reasonable suspicion analysis:

Certain factors might then be evaluated to determine whether they reasonably suggested the suspect's possible commission, existing or imminent, of a crime: The time; the day of the week; the location; the physical appearance of the suspect; the behavior of the suspect; the appearance and manner of operation of any vehicle involved; anything incongruous or unusual in the situation as interpreted in the light of the officer's knowledge.

(emphasis added).

In <u>Whren v. United States</u>, 517 U.S. 806 (1996), the United States Supreme Court held that a temporary stop and detention of a motorist is valid under the Fourth Amendment where probable cause exists to believe that there was a violation to traffic laws. Additionally, the subjective intentions of the officer making the stop are irrelevant in determining its validity; rather, the test is objective, whether probable cause exists under the facts that could justify a traffic stop. <u>See Holland v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 757, 758 (Fla. 1997). When a suspected violation at issue is to a criminal traffic law, then the standard applied to a traffic stop is the same as to any other temporary investigative detention, that of reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. <u>See State, Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles v. DeShong</u>, 603 So. 2d 1349, 1352 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

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