IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. SC13-318
KERRICK VAN TEAMER,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	1	

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD M. SUMMA
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLA. BAR NO. 0890588
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8514
Richard.Summa@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

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

The sole fact of a discrepancy between the color observed and the color noted on vehicle registration records is not enough to establish a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Deputy Knotts had a hunch - but that's all he had. Mr. Teamer asks the Court to adopt the well reasoned opinion of the district court below and to disapprove the contrary expression found in <u>Aders v. State</u>, 67 So. 3d 368 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011).

Good faith exception

The Petitioner argues, in the alternative, that application of the exclusionary rule "would serve little purpose." (IB,19). The "law available to the officer," <u>Aders</u>, permitted the stop of Teamer's vehicle based solely on the discrepancy in color. (IB,19).

The exclusionary rule would not provide deterrence in the instant case because the officer in the instant case relied on the legal authority of the Fourth District and could not anticipate the law would change.

(IB,19). This argument is misplaced for two reasons: (1) this specific argument was not preserved for review; and (2) the officer could not have "relied" on <u>Aders</u> because

the officer stopped Teamer's vehicle more than a year prior to the issuance of the Aders decision.

The Petitioner's claim of "good faith exception" was not preserved for review.

The specific claim that the exclusionary rule is not appropriate in this case was not argued to the trial court. Nor was it argued to the district court. It is argued for the first time in this Court. As such, the State waived this argument.

Neither should the State be heard to argue that the trial court's decision to admit the evidence should be affirmed under the "tipsy coachman" or "right for any reason" rule. The trial court's "ruling" was not that the evidence should be admitted. The trial court's "ruling" was that Deputy Knotts had "reasonable suspicion" to stop Mr. Teamer's vehicle. There is no other basis *in the record* to determine that Deputy Knotts had reasonable suspicion to justify the vehicle stop such as to support application of the tipsy coachman doctrine.

Second, there is no basis in the record to find that Deputy Knotts relied on Aders v. State, 67 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011), to justify the stop of Teamer's vehicle. The State's position may be premised upon <u>Davis v. United States</u>, 131 S. Ct. 2419, 180 L.Ed.2d 285 (2011), although the State failed to cite <u>Davis</u>. In <u>Davis</u>, the Supreme Court of the United States held:

Evidence obtained during a search conducted in reasonable

reliance on binding precedent is not subject to the exclusionary rule.

<u>Davis v. United States</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 2429. <u>Davis</u> has no application to the present case because the <u>Aders</u> decision was issued on July 27, 2011, whereas the stop of Mr. Teamer's vehicle occurred on June 22, 2010, more than one year prior to the issuance of the <u>Aders</u> decision. (R.I,3; II,21,48). It is clear that Deputy Knotts could not have stopped Mr. Teamer's vehicle in "reasonable reliance" of the <u>Aders</u> decision.

For these reasons the Court should reject the State's plea to abstain from applying the exclusionary rule.

ISSUE II

The imposition of felony punishment for the offense of trafficking in a controlled substance violates due process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is a legal issue to be reviewed de novo.

PRESERVATION

The sentence imposed violated appellant's federal and state constitutional rights to due process of law. The sentence of 6 years in prison for trafficking in a controlled substance exceeds the maximum sentence that may be constitutionally imposed for an offense not requiring proof of mens rea, in accordance with the principles expressed in <u>Staples v. United States</u>, 511 U.S. 600 (1994). "A sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition illegal" within the meaning of Rule 3.800(a). <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998). An "illegal" sentence may be preserved for appellate review via Rule 3.800(b)(2).

A motion to correct any sentencing error, including an illegal sentence, may be filed as allowed by this subdivision.

Rule 3.800(b)(2); see, Jackson v. State, 983 So. 2d 562, 573 (Fla. 2008); Flowers v.

State, 965 So. 2d 1233 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007); James v. State, 932 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); Holland v. State, 882 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

This issue was preserved for direct appeal by Mr. Teamer's motion to correct sentence pursuant to Rule 3.800(b)(2), and the trial court's ruling thereon. Mr. Teamer also argued this issue in the district court.

MERITS

[NOTE: This argument is not foreclosed by <u>State v. Adkins</u>, 96 So. 3d 412 (Fla. 2012), because this specific argument was neither raised nor decided in <u>Adkins</u>. This is an "as applied" constitutional challenge within the scope of the concurring opinion of Justice Pariente in <u>State v. Adkins</u>.]

In <u>Chicone v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), the supreme court held, as a matter of statutory construction, that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the possessor of cocaine knew of the illicit nature of the item in his possession. In this sense, <u>Chicone</u> was consistent with the earlier supreme court opinion in <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 509 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1987), which held in a trafficking case that the state must prove as an element of the offense that the defendant knew the substance was cocaine.

The holding of <u>Chicone</u> is multi-faceted: (1) the plain language of the possession of cocaine statute imposes no *mens rea* requirement, <u>Id</u>. at 742 (text

accompanying note 10); **(2)** absent *mens rea*, possession of cocaine is a strict liability offense, <u>Id</u>. at 739, quoting <u>Frank v. State</u>, 199 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967), and <u>Rutskin v. State</u>, 260 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), 743, quoting <u>Liparota v. United States</u>, 471 U.S. 419, 426 (1985), 743, n.11; **(3)** the imposition of felony punishment for a strict liability offense violates due process, <u>Id</u>. at 742-743, citing <u>United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc.</u>, 513 U.S. 64 (1994); <u>Staples v. United States</u>, 511 U.S. 600, 617-618 (1994); **(4)** it is presumed that the legislature did not intend to enact an unconstitutional statute, <u>Id</u>, at 744; **(5)** it is necessary, therefore, to "save" the constitutionality of the possession of cocaine statute by inferring, as a matter of judicial construction, the *mens rea* element of knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance, <u>Id</u>. at 741-744.

After <u>Chicone</u> the Florida legislature came to the view, at least with respect to controlled substances, that the *mens rea* requirement, the bedrock principle of Anglo-American criminal law, was no longer a sound public policy. The legislature dispensed with the *mens rea* requirement by enacting section 893.101, Florida Statutes. Section 893.101(1), Florida Statutes, states that the holding of <u>Chicone</u> that the state must prove that the defendant knew of the illicit nature of the substance -was "contrary to legislative intent." Section 893.101(2), Florida Statutes, provides:

The Legislature finds that knowledge of the illicit nature of

a controlled substance is not an element of any offense under this chapter. Lack of knowledge of the illicit nature of a controlled substance is an affirmative defense to the offenses of this chapter.

The enactment of section 893.101, Florida Statutes, however, did not "overrule" Chicone. The legislature could not "overrule" the constitutional aspect of Chicone because the separation of powers principle confers upon the judiciary the sole authority to determine whether a statute is constitutional. Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137 (1803); Bush v. Schiavo, 885 So. 2d 321, 329-30; § 20.02(1), Florida Statutes (2002). On the other hand, it is the legislature which possesses the sole authority to determine the elements of a criminal offense. Giorgetti v. State, 868 So. 2d 512, 516 (Fla. 2004). It is correct to say, therefore, that the enactment of section 893.101, Florida Statutes, "superseded" Chicone, but only in part. Chicone's ultimate holding, that the *mens rea* element will be inferred as a matter of judicial construction, may not stand.

By the enactment of section 893.101, Florida Statutes, the legislature eliminated the mens rea requirement from all chapter 893 offenses. For example, suppose that Mrs. Jones asks her husband to carry an item across the street to her neighbor, Mrs. Smith. The item is a clear plastic bag containing a white powdery substance. Mr. Jones does not inquire as to the nature of the substance, and it appears

to him to be ordinary table salt. While crossing the street Mr. Jones encounters a police officer who, in a consensual encounter, requests to examine the bag. After a consensual examination and field test, the substance is found to be cocaine. Under the section 893.101 clarification, Mr. Jones may be found guilty of possession of cocaine despite his lack of criminal intent.

The elimination of the mens rea requirement carries implications pursuant to the due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions. See State v. Oxx, 417 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)(power of legislature to dispense with mens rea and punish irrespective of criminal intent limited by constitutional constraints); United States v. Cordoba-Hincape, 825 F.Supp. 485, 515-518 (E.D. New York 1993); United States v. Heller, 579 F.2d 990 (6th Cir. 1978). As a general rule convictions for offenses not requiring proof of mens rea, also known as public welfare offenses, carry relatively light penalties and the conviction does no grave damage to the offender's reputation. Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 617-618 (1994) (citing Morisette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 256 (1952)). Accordingly the Supreme Court, in Staples, held that a felony conviction and imprisonment for ten years would be "incongruous" with a strict liability offense. Staples, 511 U.S. at 617. In State v. Giorgetti, 868 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 2004), the Florida Supreme Court held the Florida sex offender registration statute must be construed to carry a mens rea requirement because a felony conviction and sentence of 6 ½ years was incompatible with conviction for a strict liability offense. In so holding, the Florida Supreme Court also recognized that the requirement of criminal intent is less necessary where the penalties commonly are relatively small and conviction does no grave danger to the offender's reputation. Id. at 517, quoting Francis Bowes Sayre, Public Welfare Offenses, 33 Columb. L. Rev. 55, 72 (1933)(stating that it is a "cardinal principle" of public welfare offenses that the penalty not be severe). In United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422 (1978), the Supreme Court opined that imposition of a felony conviction and sentence of three years imprisonment was inconsistent with an offense not requiring proof of *mens rea*.

Given that a felony conviction and sentence of 6 years imprisonment is incongruous with a conviction for an offense not requiring proof of mens rea, the question presented is what is the maximum sentence permissible, consistent with due process, for the offenses for which appellant was convicted? The correct analytical framework was discussed in <u>Staples v. United States</u>, 511 U.S. 600 (1994). First, the stigma that attaches to a "felony" conviction is inconsistent with an offense not requiring proof of mens rea. The authority is clear.

[P]unishing a violation as a felony is simply incompatible with the theory of the public welfare offense.

Chicone, 684 So. 2d at 742, quoting Staples, 511 U.S. at 617-618. Furthermore, the Supreme Court of the United States noted a number of cases approving of relatively short jail sentences as punishment for strict liability offenses, i.e., six months and three months. Staples, 511 U.S. at 616, citations omitted; see also, Tart v. Commonweath of Massachusetts, 949 F.2d 490 (1st Cir. 1991)(maximum of thirty days imprisonment for strict liability offense does not violate due process); United States v. Heller, 579 F.2d 990, 994 (6th Cir. 1978)(maximum term of incarceration for strict liability offense is one year).

Also helpful is the test for finding a due process violation:

The elimination of the element of criminal intent does not violate due process where (1) the penalty is relatively small, and (2) where conviction does not gravely besmrich.

<u>United States v. Wulff</u>, 758 F.2d 1121, 1124 (6th Cir. 1985)(citing <u>Holdridge v. United States</u>, 282 F.2d 302 (8th Cir. 1960)). <u>See also, United States v. Cordoba-Hincape</u>, 825 F.Supp. 485 (E.D. New York 1993)(exhaustive analysis of constitutional dimensions of *mens_rea* principle, strict liability offenses, and describing statutory rape as an exception to the rule limiting penalties for strict liability offenses).

The relationship between <u>Chicone</u> and section 893.101, Florida Statutes, invites the following syllogism. The imposition of felony punishment for an offense

not requiring proof of mens rea is unconstitutional; trafficking in a controlled substance is an offense not requiring proof of mens rea; the offense of trafficking in a controlled substance is, therefore, unconstitutional. While the syllogism seems logical, the particulars of the law demonstrate that it not entirely correct in the legal sense. In United States v. Balint, 258 U.S. 250 (1922), the Supreme Court held that a charging document was not legally deficient for failing to allege mens rea in the charge of a criminal offense. Specifically, the Supreme Court held that a tax revenue statute may impose criminal penalties as a means of narcotics regulation without requiring proof that the defendant knew that the narcotics he sold were of the type proscribed by the statute. The imposition of criminal penalties for violations of public welfare regulations does not violate due process. Id. The rationale supporting criminal punishment for public welfare offenses states that such punishment is necessary, or at least helpful, in protecting the public from the negligence of those who deal in dangerous items. Francis Bowes Sayre, Public Welfare Offenses, 33 Columb. L. Rev. 55 (1933).

In <u>Balint</u>, the Supreme Court considered the constitutionality, vel non, of the omission of mens rea from the elements of a federal drug regulation. In <u>Balint</u>, however, the Supreme Court was not presented with any question concerning the appropriateness of sentence upon conviction. Rather, <u>Balint</u> presented an issue

arising at the pleading stage. The question was whether the indictment was legally insufficient for failing to allege that the defendants knew that the substance they sold was opium. Resolving the question, the Supreme Court held that regulations enacted in furtherance of the police power, i.e., public welfare offenses, do not necessarily adhere to the common law requirement of proof of mens rea. In reviewing the text of the taxing statute, the Court observed that the "manifest purpose" of the statute was to regulate the business of dealing in dangerous drugs and to enforce the regulation by criminal penalty. Under such circumstances, the Court concluded, Congress intended to dispense with the traditional common law mens rea requirement. Thus, the Court held that the failure to allege mens rea in the charging document did not constitute a denial of due process.

Balint does not control the present issue because the Supreme Court, in Balint, did not consider whether the imposition of felony punishment would affect the constitutional inquiry. In Balint, the defendant had not yet been convicted, much less sentenced. The constitutionality of felony punishment for a strict liability offense was not ripe for review and, therefore, not decided.

<u>United States v. Freed</u>, 401 U.S. 601 (1971), and <u>Shelvin-Carpenter Co. v.</u>

<u>Minnesota</u>, 218 U.S. 57 (1910), are cases of the same ilk. In <u>Freed</u>, the Supreme

Court ruled that the trial court erred in dismissing the indictment charging a violation

of the National Firearms Act for failure to allege scienter, i.e., knowledge that the hand grenades in the defendant's possession were not registered under the Act. While holding that the indictment need not allege scienter, or mens rea, the Court did not hold that felony punishment would be constitutional because that issue was not ripe for adjudication; the defendant had not yet been convicted and sentenced.

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